THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas, Sitting in Its Appellate Capacity

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-001194

G. Allen Rutter..... Respondent,

v.

City of Columbia Design/Development Review CommissionAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jessica R. Mangum
Office of the City Attorney
Post Office Box 667
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 737-4242

Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED
SFP 09 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas, Sitting in Its Appellate Capacity

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT A HEARING BEFORE AN ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD REQUIRES A HIGHER LEVEL OF DUE PROCESS THAN AFFORDED TO RESPONDENT?
2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN HOLDING THE STANDARDS USED BY THE ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD WERE VAGUE AND INDEFINITE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

The City of Columbia appeals from the circuit court's order reversing the decision of the City's architectural review board (the "Design/Development Review Commission" or the "Commission" or the "DDRC") which denied Respondent Rutter's application for a Certificate of Design Approval. Rutter is in the business of flipping houses, and he is both the owner of and contractor for the property at issue, which is located at 1500 Gladden/2801 Webster Street, Columbia, South Carolina (TMS # 11414-09-03) (the "Property"). The Property, a Tudor Revival brick home built in 1935, is part of the Melrose Heights/Oak Lawn Architectural Conservation District, which is included in the National Register of Historic Places.

The Property makes up part of the Melrose Heights/Oak Lawn Architectural Conservation District. City of Columbia Municipal Code Ordinance §17-681(b)(3). The Ordinances and Guidelines, implemented at the request of the neighborhood, are codified in Article V of the City of Columbia's Code of Ordinances. The ordinances prohibited the construction, reconstruction, addition, alteration, repair or replacement of any exterior architectural feature within an architectural conservation unless a Certificate of Design Approval has been issued. City of Columbia Municipal Code § 17-655(a)(1). Moreover,

City Code §17-653 establishes the Design and Development Review Commission and tasks the Commission with administering the design guidelines for each of the historic preservation classifications. City of Columbia Municipal Code § 17-653. Specifically, the Code provides that

[T]he commission shall examine the architectural design, the exterior surface treatment, the arrangement and location of buildings and structures . . . and other pertinent factors affecting the appearance and efficient functioning of the district. The commission shall endeavor to ensure that the exterior appearance and arrangement of buildings, structures and premises in these districts will (1) enhance the attractiveness and functioning of each district in keeping with its purpose and intent; (2) encourage the orderly and harmonious development of each district; and (3) enhance and protect the public and private investment and general value of lands and improvements within the district.

City of Columbia Municipal Code §17-674(c). In addition, the Code enumerates the Commission's review process, lists criteria for review, and states that the "issuance of a certificate of design approval shall be based upon the requirements set forth in the ... design guidelines..." City of Columbia Municipal Code §17-674(d)(1). The Guidelines were "approved by City Council in 2003 as a document by which decisions for the district could be made in a consistent manner with the common goal of preserving the historic integrity of the buildings in the district." (Appendix to R. p. 21). The Guidelines described in the City's Ordinances are accessible through the City's Planning and Preservation Department and the City's website. <https://www.columbiasc.net/planning-preservation/historic-districts>.

On September 30, 2016, prior to purchasing the Property, Rutter contacted the City of Columbia Planning and Preservation Department (the "Department"), identified himself as a contractor, and asked about whether he could make exterior changes to the

Property. (Appendix to R. p. 20). Specifically, Rutter inquired about his ability to paint the exterior brick. *Id.* The Department informed Rutter that he could not make changes to the exterior of the Property unless the changes complied with the City of Columbia's Historic Preservation and Architectural Review Ordinances (the "Ordinances") as well as the Melrose Heights/Oak Lawn Architectural Conservation District Design Guidelines (the "Guidelines"). *Id.*

On October 28, 2016, almost a month after learning the Property was in an architectural conservation district, Rutter purchased the Property. Approximately two weeks later, on November 11, 2016, the Department received complaints from residents of the Melrose Heights/Oak Lawn Architectural Conservation District that Rutter painted the exterior of the property in violation of the neighborhood's architectural conservation district designation and the Guidelines. (Appendix to R. p. 20). The Department immediately issued a Stop Work Order and reminded Rutter about the Guidelines and the review process for exterior changes to homes in the Melrose Heights/Oak Lawn Architectural Conservation District. *Id.* At that time, Rutter questioned whether he could remove a door and fill in the opening with brick. *Id.* The Department again instructed him of the review process for exterior changes and told him that he could **not** complete any further exterior work until he submitted an application for a Certificate of Design Approval **and** the Commission approved the application. *Id.*

At some point after the Department issued the initial Stop Work order, it received another neighborhood complaint about the improper removal of windows from the property. (Appendix to R. p. 20). Upon arriving at the Property, a member of the Department noted Rutter had removed several windows and was in the process of

bricking in those areas. *Id.* The Department issued a second Stop Work Order. *Id.* Finally, on November 16, 2016, Rutter filed an application for design approval with the Commission. (Appendix to R. p. 13). At the same time, he filed a Letter of Agency, appointing Russell Jones (his realtor) as the authorized agent for his application. *Id.* at 14.

At the Commission hearing on January 12, 2017, Jones appeared on behalf of Rutter. (Appendix to R. p. 15). The hearing on Respondent's application lasted approximately forty (40) minutes. *Id.* In addition to testimony from the Department and Jones, three (3) residents of the Melrose Heights/Oak Lawn Architectural Conservation District neighborhood spoke in opposition to Respondent's application. *Id.* The Commission received testimony and evidence from Rutter, through his authorized agent, and from the Department about how the alterations to the exterior affected the architectural preservation of the Property and the surrounding neighborhood. *Id.* After considering the pertinent sections of the Ordinances and the Guidelines, the Commission denied the request for a Certificate of Design approval to paint the exterior brick and remove windows and door openings on the first floor of the Property. *Id.* However, the Commission did approve the replacement of non-original windows on the second floor and the removal of a door and window from the side gable, finding those requests fell within the Guidelines. *Id.*

On February 10, 2017, Respondent appealed the decision of the Commission to the Court of Common Pleas in the Fifth Judicial Circuit. (R. p.31-36). The circuit court heard the matter on February 9, 2018 and subsequently reversed the Commission's denial of Rutter's request to paint the exterior brick and remove windows and door on the first floor. (R. p. 5-15). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS IS FLEXIBLE, THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT A HEARING BEFORE AN ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD REQUIRES A HIGHER LEVEL OF DUE PROCESS THAN RESPONDENT WAS AFFORDED.

On appeal, Rutter argued the hearing before the DDRC violated his procedural due process rights by not allowing him to be heard in a meaningful way¹ and by lack of notice. The circuit court, sitting in its appellate capacity, agreed and found Rutter had “no right to counsel, no opportunity to question or cross-examine staff, no reasonable notice of what DDRC staff would present in opposition to his application, and no right to call his own witnesses.” (R. p. 9). Additionally, the circuit court found Rutter had “no notice – actual or constructive” of the Melrose Heights/Oak Lawn Architectural Conservation District Guidelines.² (R. p. 10).

¹ This issue was not raised in Rutter’s Notice of Appeal as required by S.C. Code Ann. §6-29-820. Furthermore, the statute makes “no provision for amendment of the grounds set forth in the petition.” *Austin v. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C. 29, 37, 606 S.E.2d 209, 213 (Ct. App. 2004).

² However, see S.C. Code Ann. §6-29-930 (stating the findings of fact by the board of architectural review are conclusive on the hearing of the appeal and the reviewing court must determine only whether the decision of the board is correct as a matter of law). Here, it appears the circuit court’s holdings/conclusions of law may contradict the statutory authority given to appellate courts when reviewing decisions from an architectural review board because such authority does not include review of constitutional issues. Seemingly, it is unclear whether this issue is a matter of first impression in South Carolina, for no case seems to have directly addressed our appellate court’s authority to review constitutional issues in such matters. However, other states have addressed this issue and found that appellate courts reviewing decisions from architectural review commissions cannot address constitutional issues. See, e.g. *Norton v. City of Danville*, 268 Va. 402, 407, 602 S.E.2d 126, 129 (2004) (holding, under similar statutory scheme, judicial review of a decision of an architectural review commission is limited to the issues defined in the statute governing the appeal to a circuit court and the certiorari process does not authorize a court to rule on the validity or constitutionality of legislation underlying a board of zoning appeals decision); *Covel v. Town of Vienna*, 280 Va. 151, 157–58, 694 S.E.2d 609, 613 (2010) (holding the appropriate method for constitutional challenges is not through appeal but instead by an action against the governing body); *Bd. of Zoning Appeals of James City Cty. v. Univ. Square Assocs.*, 246 Va. 290, 295, 435 S.E.2d 385, 388 (1993) (holding this rule is consistent with the decisions of courts in several other states that have addressed this issue): *Rubin v. Board of Directors*, 16 Cal.2d 119, 104 P.2d 1041, 1043-44 (1940); *National Transp. Co. v. Toquet*, 123 Conn. 468, 196 A. 344, 348 (1937); *River Forest State Bank & Trust Co. v. Board of Zoning*

These findings by the circuit court are reversible for several reasons. First, “issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (citing *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct.App.2006). “At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.” *Id.* (citing *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). “It is ‘axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.’” *Id.* Imposing such a requirement on the appellant “is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” *Id.* (citing *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000)). An issue is not preserved for appeal when it is not raised to the trial court, the trial court does not address the issue in its order and the appellant does not request the trial court to rule on it. *Capital View Fire Dist. v. County of Richland*, 297 S.C. 359, 377 S.E.2d 122 (Ct.App.1989). In addition, an appellate court is not precluded from finding an issue unpreserved even when the parties do not argue error preservation because of the long-standing importance of error preservation in appellate practice in South Carolina. *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012).

Appeals, 34 Ill.App.2d 412, 181 N.E.2d 1, 3 (1961); *Board of Zoning Appeals v. Waintrup*, 99 Ind.App. 576, 193 N.E. 701, 704 (1935); *Gamache v. Town of Acushnet*, 14 Mass.App. 215, 438 N.E.2d 82, 88 (1982); *Austin v. Older*, 278 Mich. 518, 270 N.W. 771, 772 (1936); *Sherrill v. Town of Wrightsville Beach*, 76 N.C.App. 646, 334 S.E.2d 103, 105 (1985); *Drabble v. Zoning Bd. of Review*, 52 R.I. 228, 159 A. 828, 829 (1932); *Carter v. City of Bluefield*, 132 W.Va. 881, 54 S.E.2d 747, 757-58 (1949).

In this case, Rutter cannot show he raised these issues to the DDRC, and he cannot show he asked for a ruling in order to preserve the issues for appellate review. (Appendix to R. p. 15). Rather, the record plainly shows Rutter did not raise either of these procedural due process issues during the hearing before the Commission. *Id.* Therefore, Rutter did not preserve these issues for review on appeal.

Secondly, the standard of review for appeals from the Commission is dictated by statute. "The findings of fact by the board of architectural review are final and conclusive on the hearing of the appeal, and the court may not take additional evidence." S.C. Code Ann. §6-29-930. The circuit court must remand a case to the board if the record is insufficient for review. *Id.* In this case, even if the circuit court believed Rutter raised these issues at the hearing before the Commission, the record shows the Commission did not rule on them. (Appendix to R. p. 15). Therefore, the appropriate remedy was to remand to the Commission for a rehearing. Instead, the circuit court reversed the decision of the DDRC, in clear contravention of the statute.

Additionally, "[t]he burden of proving the invalidity of a zoning ordinance is on the party attacking it, and it is incumbent on respondent to show the arbitrary and capricious character of the ordinance through clear and convincing evidence." *Town of Scranton v. Willoughby*, 306 S.C. 421, 422, 412 S.E.2d 424, 425 (1991). In this case, Rutter has the burden of proof as to each of his due process violation allegations. Rutter did not provide any evidence to show the Commission violated his right to counsel, nor did he present any evidence to show he was not allowed to cross-examine staff or denied the right to call his own witnesses. (Appendix to R. p. 15). In fact, the record clearly contradicts his allegations. *Id.* The record shows the hearing lasted

approximately 40 minutes and Rutter's agent was allowed to present evidence, provide testimony, ask questions, and was also given time for rebuttal after other parties spoke. *Id.* Although Rutter could have certainly elected to be represented by counsel at the hearing, the record shows he instead selected his realtor to appear on his behalf.³ (Appendix to R. p. 14). It seems only logical that Rutter's conscious choice to send an agent instead of an attorney is not a due process violation that could be imputed against the Commission. Based on the record before the appellate court, there was nothing to substantiate any of Rutter's allegations and this is insufficient as a matter of law to establish a procedural due process violation.

The circuit court also found Rutter's procedural due process rights were violated with respect to notice. Specifically the court held

Property owners in Melrose Heights have no notice – actual or constructive – that the DDRC will prohibit them from making necessary repairs and improvements to their homes because the Guidelines appear nowhere in the chain of title. The Guidelines are neither recorded with the Richland County Register of Deeds nor are they noted on the deed when property is conveyed. There is no signage in the neighborhood giving prospective buyers notice of the restrictions. Even a prospective homebuyer who searches the City's Code of Ordinances, including the zoning ordinances, would not find the Guidelines because they have not been codified. Thus the reasonable, prudent homebuyer would have no reason to discover the existence of the DDRC or the Guidelines until they apply for a permit to begin construction or renovation.

(R. p. 10).

However, the notice requirement for an appeal to a board of architectural review requires "public notice of the hearing, as well as due notice to the parties of interest." S.C. Code Ann. §6-29-890. In this case, Rutter did not challenge notice under the

³ Parties at a hearing before a board of architectural review such as the Commission may appear in person, by agent, or by attorney (S.C. Code §6-29-890). See also *Return of City of Columbia Design/Development Review Commission*, which contains Rutter's Letter of Agency.

statutory notice provision, and it was error for the circuit court to apply a different standard.

However, even if the standard applied by the circuit court was correct, the record contains nothing to support a finding that Rutter lacked actual or constructive notice⁴. To the contrary, the record contains **substantial** evidence that Rutter had **both** actual and constructive notice of the Property's historic designation. For example, the record contains testimony from the Department about a conversation with Rutter prior to his purchase of the Property. (Appendix to R. p. 15). In that conversation, the parties discussed the Property's location within an architectural conservation district, the Guidelines, **and** the review process for exterior changes to homes within those districts. *Id.* Additionally, the Department's *DDRC Design Review District Historic Agenda Evaluation Sheet* also contains evidence of the same. (Appendix to R. p. 20-21). Furthermore, Rutter himself called the Department prior to the purchase of the property to inquire about whether he could make changes to the exterior of the Property. *Id.* (See also R. p. 6). By his conduct alone, Rutter showed he had notice of the neighborhood's designation.

Moreover, Rutter never argued he lacked notice of the Guidelines or the neighborhood's historic designation. (Appendix to R. p. 15). To the contrary, throughout the hearing before the Commission, Rutter's agent Jones testified that Rutter desired to make changes to the property that would "add to the design, character, and value of the neighborhood" and Rutter wanted the property to "keep in the character of [the

⁴ Under the standard articulated in *Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Tr. Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 315, 70 S. Ct. 652, 658, 94 L. Ed. 865 (1950), it appears constructive notice would not comport with procedural due process requirements in a hearing before the Commission. However, the City argues constructive notice here based on the findings of the circuit court and for preservation purposes.

neighborhood].” *Id.* Additionally, during the hearing, Jones (with a copy of the Guidelines in his hand) repeatedly argued the Commission should interpret the Guidelines in such a way as to grant Rutter’s application. (*Id.* at 56:08-22; 58:07-59:30; 1:00:13-1:0030; 1:01:00-1:01:19). It seems virtually impossible to reconcile that testimony with the circuit court’s finding that Rutter lacked notice of the Guidelines. Equally impossible to reconcile is the finding that Rutter **did have** actual notice of the Guidelines prior to his purchase of the home only to then find, as a matter of law, that Rutter had no actual notice of the Guidelines. (R. p. 9).

In addition, Rutter also had constructive notice. The City of Columbia Municipal Code clearly designates each architectural conservation district located within the city. *See, e.g.*, City of Columbia Municipal Code § 17-681(b) (identifying each architectural conservation district by description, TMS number, and accompanying map); City of Columbia Municipal Code § 17-655 (describing the Certificate of Design Approval process); City of Columbia Municipal Code §17-674 (relating the Design/Development Review Commission process). The ordinances, both separately and read together, give sufficient notice to enable a reasonable person to understand those areas included in the City’s various architectural conservation districts and the appropriate processes one must undertake in order to make exterior changes to properties located within these districts.

Lastly, the level of due process the Circuit Court requires at the Commission hearing is in directly contradiction to established law.

Procedural due process requirements are not technical, and no particular form of procedure is necessary (citing *Sloan v. S.C. Bd. Of Physical Therapy Exam'rs*, 370 S.C. 452, 485, 636 S.E.2d 598, 615 (2006)). Rather, due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands. *Id.* The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a

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