**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2018-001194

RECEIVED
SFP 10 2019
SC Court of Appeals

G. Allen Rutter, Respondent,

v.

City of Columbia Design/Development Review Commission, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Benjamin C. Bruner
Chelsea J. Clark
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC
P.O. Box 61110
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 252-7693
Attorneys for Respondent

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

prevails and is controlling over any conflicting city ordinance (including the ordinances upon which the DDRC relies). City of Columbia Ord. § 5-51. Specifically, the 2015 International Building Code provides, “Permits *shall not* be required for the following: . . . 7. Painting . . . and similar finish work.” 2015 International Building Code, § 105.2 (emphasis added). Therefore, while it was the Circuit Court’s order that permitted Rutter to paint his house (despite the DDRC’s efforts), it was the ordinance the City enacted that allowed him to do so without obtaining a second permit. The City’s argument that a second building permit was required for Rutter to paint his house is untenable.

Respondent was fully cloaked in the authority of the Circuit Court’s order when he completed the work on the house. Like Christ Central Ministries after it obtained its building permit, Rutter had obtained all permitting and approvals from the government that were required of him by law before he could complete the work. The Circuit Court did not need to order the issuance of a building permit because none was required for the work that remained. There was no remand in Judge Newman’s decision, which was final and un-appealed at the time Rutter did the work. The DDRC filed no request that the Circuit Court stay its order as it had done in *Christ Central Ministries*, nor to this day has it requested a stay from any court. Under these circumstances, it is disappointing for the DDRC to suggest Rutter must start the whole three-year process anew, or, for that matter, for the DDRC to now claim it was waiting for Rutter to apply for a second (unnecessary) building permit before it moved for a stay. Had the DDRC truly been concerned, it could have availed itself of its rights. It chose not to, and this appeal is now moot.

A New York appellate court found an appeal moot in a similar situation. *See Dreikausen v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 98 N.Y.2d 165, 774 N.E.2d 193 (Ct. App. 2002). In that case, a zoning board granted a variance for developers of condominiums against the wishes of adjacent

landowners. *See id.*, 98 N.Y.2d at 169–72, 774 N.E.2d at 194–96. The landowners appealed the decision but failed to seek an injunction or a stay, so work continued on the project. *Id.* The landowners did not seek injunctive relief until that matter reached the appellate courts of New York. *Id.*, 98 N.Y.2d at 171–72, 774 N.E.2d at 195–96. By the time that the matter reached New York’s top court, multiple units were complete and several more were in advanced stages of construction. *Id.*, 98 N.Y.2d at 172, 774 N.E.2d at 196. The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal, relying on the fact that the appellants had failed to timely seek injunctive relief. *Id.*, 98 N.Y.2d at 174, 774 N.E.2d at 197–98; *see also Citineighbors Coal. of Historic Carnegie Hill v. N.Y.C. Landmarks Pres. Comm’n*, 2 N.Y.3d 727, 729, 811 N.E.2d 2, 4 (2004). In this case, the DDRC also failed to take any timely action. It cannot now unjustly demand reversal of the work, which was performed lawfully and at great expense, and further extend this litigation. This appeal is moot.

The DDRC argues that even if this appeal is held moot, this Court should find an exception. Specifically, the DDRC claims the issues in this case involving a failure of due process and vague and indefinite standards are matters of public interest that merit an exception to the doctrine of mootness. *See Sloan v. Friends of the Hunley, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 20, 26–27, 630 S.E.2d 474, 478 (2006). The facts of this case and the DDRC’s voluntary abandonment of a similar appeal do not support that contention. *See id.*, 369 S.C. at 26–27, 630 S.E.2d at 478. (*See also* R. pp. 16–17 (consent order agreeing to certain proposed improvements after the Circuit Court found the DDRC’s *Woodley* decision violated due process)). Our Supreme Court has stated that the public interest exception should only be applied when a matter is of important public interest and there is a “question of imperative and manifest urgency.” *Friends of the Hunley*, 369 S.C. at 27, 630 S.E.2d at 478 (citing *Sloan v. Greenville Cty.*, 361 S.C. 568, 570, 606 S.E.2d 464, 465–66 (2004)).

Further, public interest is not an automatic exception to the mootness doctrine, but rather one an appellate court may apply in its wisdom and discretion. *S.C. Pub. Interest. Found. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 412 S.C. 18, 26–27, 770 S.E.2d 399, 403–04 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *Sloan v. Greenville Cty.*, 380 S.C. 528, 535, 670 S.E.2d 663, 667 (Ct. App. 2009)).

There is no great novel question before the Court in this appeal. The law of due process in this state, even in administrative contexts, is well established and generally comes down to an analysis of the circumstances of a given situation. The DDRC's refusal to accept that jurisprudence does not spawn a "question of imperative and manifest urgency" to warrant application of the public interest exception. Only academic questions remain in this case, and those questions have been answered in prior case law as demonstrated by Respondent's arguments below.

Furthermore, the DDRC's conduct in other cases belies its claim of manifest urgency. In a prior appeal by a homeowner, Judge Hood found the DDRC's decision violated a homeowner's right to due process, primarily based on the DDRC's procedures. (R. pp. 22–30). In response, the DDRC did not pursue review of any issue of manifest urgency, but rather engaged in reasonable negotiations with the homeowner—ultimately culminating in a consent order agreeing to many of the exterior improvements the homeowner requested and the consent dismissal of the appeal. (R. pp. 16–18). If the DDRC believed that the due process issues were of such urgent importance, it would not have abandoned its appeal.

For these reasons, there is no relief for this Court to provide, nor is there any reason for this Court to apply any exception to the mootness doctrine. This appeal should be dismissed as moot.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE DDRC FAILED TO PROVIDE RUTTER WITH DUE PROCESS.

If the Court reaches the merits of this appeal, Judge Newman's order should be affirmed for the reasons discussed below and any other grounds appearing in the record. *See* Rule 220(c), SCACR.

This case concerns a fundamental American property right. If the government wishes to curtail or restrict an American's right, it must do so within the confines of our state and federal constitutions and the protections they enshrine. Article I, Section 22 of the South Carolina Constitution specifically applies the protections of due process to a municipal administrative proceeding like the one in this case. This provision reads:

No person shall be finally bound by a judicial or quasi-judicial decision of an administrative agency affecting private rights except on due notice and an opportunity to be heard; nor shall he be subject to the same person for both prosecution and adjudication; nor shall he be deprived of liberty or property unless by a mode of procedure prescribed by the General Assembly, and he shall have in all such instances the right to judicial review.

S.C. Const. Art. I, § 22. This Court recently issued an opinion emphasizing the history and purpose of this specific provision, noting the prescience its adoption given the explosion of administrative regulation. *See McIntyre & Silver Oak Land Mgmt. v. Sec. Comm'r of S.C.*, S.C. Ct. App. Order dated Oct. 17, 2018 (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 41 at 17, 21) (petition for rehearing pending).

Many cases in South Carolina over the past few decades have expounded the due process requirements for administrative matters like the one at bar, which include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, an impartial adjudicator, and judicial review. *See, e.g., S.C. Ambulatory Surgery Ctr. Ass'n v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n*, 389 S.C. 380, 390–91, 699 S.E.2d 146, 152–53 (2010); *Garris v. Governing Bd. of the State Reinsurance Facility*, 333 S.C. 432, 444, 511 S.E.2d 48, 54 (1998); *Jones v. SC Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 384 S.C. 295, 316, 682 S.E.2d 282, 293–94 (Ct. App. 2009); *S.C. Dep't of Labor v. Girgis*, 332 S.C. 162, 166,

503 S.E.2d 490, 492 (Ct. App. 1998); *S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control v. Armstrong*, 293 S.C. 209, 215, 359 S.E.2d 302, 305 (Ct. App. 1987); *De Groot v. Emp't Sec. Comm'n.*, 285 S.C. 209, 212, 328 S.E.2d 668, 670 (Ct. App. 1985). These due process requirements apply before local planning and zoning commissions, as well as boards of architectural review like the DDRC. See *Robert K. v. City of Camden Planning Comm'n.*, 376 S.C. 165, 171, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008).

The application of due process rights in these contexts is consistent with the underpinning of all due process jurisdiction: the implication of a liberty or property interest. *S.C. Ambulatory Surgery Ctr. Ass'n*, 389 S.C. at 391, 699 S.E.2d at 152 (citing *Robert K.*, 376 S.C. at 171, 656 S.E.2d at 350). In this case, there can be no question that a property interest is directly in contention as found by Judge Newman. (R. p. 8). This case concerns the infringement Rutter's right to use and ornament his property in a reasonable manner and as he desires. See, e.g., *Robert K.*, 376 S.C. at 171–72, 656 S.E.2d at 349–50 (applying due process requirements to a hearing on an application to subdivide property); *Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 379 S.C. 57, 68–69, 663 S.E.2d 497, 503–04 (Ct. App. 2008) (applying due process requirements in a dock permit matter).

The DDRC argues in footnote 2 of its brief that it is questionable whether a reviewing court may hear issues based on the constitutionality of the decision of a board of architectural review because S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-930(A) limits the court's review to whether the board's decision is correct as a matter of law. We disagree. Flouting the State Constitution equates to an error of law and is well within this Court's and the Circuit Court's jurisdiction. Cf. *State v. Buttz*, 9 S.C. 156, 175 (1877) (where there is a statutory or constitutional provision prohibiting some act, the question of their incompatibility does not necessarily arise, for in such a case the acceptance of the second is *ipso facto* the abandonment and resignation of the first). Furthermore, no board of

architectural review may regulate citizens and restrict their property rights without recourse to judicial review of due process. *See* S.C. Const. Art. I, § 22; *see also* S.C. Const. Art. I, § 3. Notably, the DDRC relies heavily on jurisprudence from other states for its argument, something which lends it no support because the application of procedural due process has been acknowledged and decided by the South Carolina Supreme Court in the context of local city planning boards. *See Robert K.*, 376 S.C. at 171, 656 S.E.2d at 350. Finally, at no time prior to filing its brief with this Court did the DDRC raise challenge this Court’s jurisdiction to review the constitutionality of its actions. The issue, therefore, is not preserved for appellate review. *See State v. Carlson*, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (citations omitted) (“An issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”).

In this case, the Circuit Court held the DDRC violated Rutter’s due process right to notice and his due process right to be heard in a meaningful way. (R. pp. 8–10). Under our due process precedent, the requirements for administrative hearings can be flexible, depending on the circumstances and the level of intrusion or control the government proposes. *See Blanton v. Stathos*, 351 S.C. 534, 541, 570 S.E.2d 565, 569 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Stono River Envtl. Protection Ass’n v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Envtl. Control*, 305 S.C. 90, 406 S.E.2d 340 (1991); *Brown v. Malloy*, 345 S.C. 113, 546 S.E.2d 195 (Ct. App. 2001)). However, there are core requirements that must be met, including notice and the opportunity to be heard. *Id.*, 351 S.C. at 542, 570 S.E.2d at 569 (citing *Murdock v. Murdock*, 338 S.C. 322, 334, 526 S.E.2d 241, 248 (Ct. App. 1999) (“It is a fundamental doctrine of the law that a party whose personal rights are to be affected by a personal judgment must have a day in court, or opportunity to be heard, and that

without due notice and opportunity to be heard a court has no jurisdiction to adjudicate such personal rights.”).

Compliance with the requirements of due process was particularly important in Rutter’s case because there was no later *de novo* review to allow for correction of any deficiencies. *See Unisys Corp. v. S.C. Budget & Control Bd. Div. of Gen. Servs. Info. Tech. Mgmt. Office*, 346 S.C. 158, 174, 551 S.E.2d 263, 272 (2001) (citation omitted) (“An adequate *de novo* review renders harmless a procedural due process violation based on the insufficiency of the lower administrative body.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-930(A) (confining judicial review to whether a DDRC decision is “correct as a matter of law”); (R. p. 61, ll. 6–7 (counsel for the DDRC stating “[we’re] not here for a *de novo* review”)).

In this case, Rutter had no notice of the DDRC’s assertion of authority over his actions, based on its expansive interpretation of the unenacted Guidelines. Even with a full review of the Guidelines, one would still not have notice that “painting and color” on the exterior of the house were within the DDRC’s dominion because the Guidelines *specifically say that they are not*. (R. p. 138). Respondent also lacked notice of the fact that the DDRC staff intended to prepare an elaborate presentation opposing his application and condemning him for beginning work without first appearing before the DDRC.

Rather than be allowed to present his application, Rutter was left to rebut the staff member’s presentation against him, as if he was being prosecuted without notice of the charge, rather than applying for permission to paint a house. Rutter was not allowed to cross-examine the DDRC staff member who opposed his application, to inquire into hearsay contained within the report she read into the record, or to conduct any investigation into the basis for her conclusions. These limitations curtailed Rutter’s right to a meaningful hearing. If staff is going to recommend

denying an application in this adversarial fashion, the property owner has a right to adequate notice so he has a fair opportunity to respond.

Further casting a cloud on the DDRC's decision is the fact that there is no record that any person who spoke at the hearing did so under oath. Indeed, there are no findings of fact or conclusions of law in the decision letter, and that letter was drafted and signed by the staff member who prepared a report against Rutter and presented it at the meeting. (R. p. 134). Nowhere as part of its decision did the DDRC even allude to the Guidelines or any provision within them that allowed for the DDRC's assertion of authority over any matter before them, including paint and color. That alone is generally sufficient for a reversal of an administrative decision. *See Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 333 S.C. 12, 21, 507 S.E.2d 328, 332 (1998) (citations omitted) ("An administrative body must make findings which are sufficiently detailed to enable this Court to determine whether the findings are supported by the evidence and whether the law has been applied properly to those findings."). All of these defects are part of an inherent disregard for due process in the way the DDRC conducted itself in Rutter's case.

The DDRC argues in its brief that the issue of due process is unpreserved for review because it was not raised to the DDRC. However, one cannot raise the issue of a violation of due process until it occurs. Moreover, the DDRC does not itself have the authority to rule on issues of constitutionality like the Circuit Court does. *Cf. Travelscape, LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 391 S.C. 89, 109, 705 S.E.2d 28, 39 (2011) (concluding that facial constitutional challenges should be brought first on appeal, rather than before non-judicial branch bodies, such as the Administrative Law Court); *Brown v. James*, 389 S.C. 41, 54–55, 697 S.E.2d 604, 611–12 (Ct. App. 2010) (recognizing exceptions to administrative exhaustion for futility and actions outside the agency's scope of authority). Therefore, the DDRC's preservation argument is misguided.

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